

Placement of enrichment and its impact on the distribution of hens in the outdoor run

Placering av skydd och dess påverkan på värphönsens spridning i rasthagen

Mathilda Hedborg

Uppsala 2016

Master in Animal Science



Studentarbete Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Institutionen för husdjurens miljö och hälsa

Student report Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Animal Environment and Health Nr. 656

No. 656

ISSN 1652-280X



Placing of enrichment and its impact on the distribution of hens in the outdoor run

Placering av skydd och dess påverkan på värphönsens spridning i rasthagen

Mathilda Hedborg

Studentarbete 656, Uppsala 2016

Degree project in Animal Science, EX0567, A2E, 30 credits Agricultural Science Programme - Animal Science

Supervisor: Anette Wichman, SLU, Department of Animal Environment and Health Assistant supervisor: Malin Lovang, Lovang Lantbrukskonsult AB, Vikingstad Examiner: Linda Keeling, SLU, Department of Animal Environment and Health

Keywords: poultry, hens, free range, enrichment, shelters

Series: Studentarbete/Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, Institutionen för husdjurens miljö och hälsa, No. 656, ISSN 1652-280X

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Animal Environment and Health Box 234, 532 23 SKARA www.slu.se/husdjurmiljohalsa E-mail: hmh@slu.se

I denna serie publiceras olika typer av studentarbeten, bl.a. examensarbeten, vanligtvis omfattande 7,5-30 hp. Studentarbeten ingår som en obligatorisk del i olika program och syftar till att under handledning ge den studerande träning i att självständigt och på ett vetenskapligt sätt lösa en uppgift. Arbetenas innehåll, resultat och slutsatser bör således bedömas mot denna bakgrund.

Abstract

The majority of the organic egg producers in Sweden are certified according to the rules of the organisation KRAV, who have stricter directions than the legislation of the European commission. In 2013, KRAV decided to clarify the rule on use of the outdoor area to ensure a maximum utilization of the offered area. This was met with dissatisfaction among many egg producers who saw great difficulties in encouraging hens to move around the entire pasture area. As a response, KRAV formed a project group to investigate different methods to increase the hens' utilization of the outdoor run. This master thesis was included in the project with the purpose to compare how two different arrangements of the same type of artificial enrichment affected the distribution of the hens on the range.

The experiment was conducted on four organic egg farms in Östergötland county in Sweden during April and May in 2015. In one paddock on each farm, two arrangements of enrichments were set up. Each arrangement consisted of eight tin roofs with four wooden legs and eight big straw bales. In one arrangement the enrichment was placed in a line with a straw bale and thereafter a roof and so on. In the other arrangement one roof was paired with a straw bale and these pairs were placed in a zigzag formation with ten meters in diagonal from each other. The 30-meter empty area between the two arrangements of enrichment functioned as a control area.

The enriched areas attracted more hens than the control area but the difference between the two arrangements of enrichment was not as clear. The zigzag arrangement seemed to be more favourable, with a higher number of hens than the line formation, but the result was not statistically significant and differed between farms. Hens moved further out within the enriched areas, but usually no more than 35 meters, with only a few hens as far out as 50 meters on a few occasions. Due to other parameters such as weather condition and differences in paddock design between farms it is difficult to draw a conclusion of which one of the arrangements is more preferable than the other. As found in several earlier studies, there are indications in this study that enriched areas attract more birds compared to areas with no enrichment.

Sammanfattning

Majoriteten av de svenska ekologiska äggproducenterna är certifierade enligt organisationen KRAVs regler vilka är striktare än den lagstiftning som återfinns i de europeiska förordningarna för ekologisk produktion. År 2013 beslutade KRAV att skärpa reglerna för ekologiska KRAV-höns utevistelse genom att öka kravet på deras utnyttjande av hela hagen. Den nya regeländringen fick stort motstånd från äggproducenterna som upplevde stora svårigheter att leva upp till det nya kravet att få sina höns att röra sig på hela den givna ytan. För att möta denna kritik satte KRAV samman en projektgrupp med uppgiften att finna metoder för att öka hönsens vilja att utnyttja hela hagen. Det här examensarbetet ingick i projektet med syfte att undersöka om placering av en viss typ av artificiell berikning kunde öka distributionen av hönorna. Likadana skydd placerades på två olika vis i hagen och därefter bedömdes vilken av dessa uppställningar som attraherade flest höns och fick dem att röra sig längst ut i hagen.

Försöket genomfördes på fyra ekologiska värphönsgårdar i Östergötlands län i Sverige i april och maj månad under år 2015. I en hage på varje gård placerades skydden på två vis med åtta plåttak med fyra träben och åtta storbalar av halm i vardera uppställningen. I den ena uppställningen stod skydden i en lång linje med varannan halmbal och vartannat plåttak. I det andra arrangemanget placerades ett plåttak i par tillsammans med en halmbal. Dessa parvisa berikningar placerades i ett sicksack-mönster med tio meter i diagonal från varandra. Det tomma området mellan de båda uppställningarna med en bredd på 30 meter fungerade som kontroll.

De berikade områdena tenderade att attrahera fler höns än kontrollområdena men skillnaden mellan de olika placeringarna av skydd var inte lika tydlig. Sicksackformationen verkade mer fördelaktig med ett större antal höns jämfört med linjeformationen men resultatet var inte signifikant och skiljde sig mellan gårdarna. Hönsen förflyttade sig längre ut inom de berikade områdena men sällan längre än 35 meter. Endast ett fåtal höns gick 50 meter ut. På grund av andra parametrar så som väder och skillnader i hagarnas utseende, är det svårt att dra en slutsats om vilken uppställning av skydd som är mer gynnsam än den andra. I likhet med tidigare studier fanns indikationer på att berikning i hagen attraherar fler höns att gå ut jämfört med hagar utan berikning.

Table of Contents

Abstract
Sammanfattning

1 Introduction	1
2 Literature review	2
2 1 Enrichment in the outdoor run	2
2.1.1 Artificial shelters	2
2.1.1 Antificture sheriers	, 2 1
2.1.2 Induited entitioned and number of antichments	
2.1.5 Impact of design and number of enrichments	
2.1.4 Observation methods with an enriched outdoor run	/
2.2 FIUCK SIZE	9
2.3 Impact of age	9
2.4 Climate, season and time of day	10
2.5 The poultry house	11
2.6 Feather pecking and cannibalism	11
2.7 Hybrids	12
2.7.1 Feather pecking among different hybrids	13
3 Material and methods	14
3.1 Design and placement of the enrichment	14
3.2 Collection of data	16
3.3 Statistical analyses	17
4 Deculto	47
	17
4.1 Distribution of nens in the entire trial area	17
4.2 Distribution of hens in different distances from the poultry house	19
4.3 Plumage condition and light intensity	20
4.4 Climate and time of day	21
5 Discussion	22
5.1 Distribution of hens in the outdoor run	22
5.2 External factors that may have affected the outcome	23
5.3 Trial design and collection of data	24
5.4 Climate, season and time of day	
5.5 The poultry house and light intensity	26
5.6 Impact of plumage condition, hybrid and age	26
C Canaluaian	20
6 Conclusion	21
8 Acknowledgments	28
9 References	29
10 Appendix	32
10.1 Appendix 1	32
10.2 Appendix 2	32
ion internation and international internationa	54

1 Introduction

The demand for organically produced eggs in Sweden has increased rapidly during the last years and consequently the number of organic egg producers. The total number of laying hens was 6 873 700 in 2013 (Jordbruksverket, 2014a). Of these 868 378 were organic, which corresponds to 13 % of the total number of laying hens. In 2009 there were 579 015 organic hens so there has been a 50 % increase during these four years (Jordbruksverket, 2013a).

In 1995 Sweden became a member of the European Union (EU) (Europeiska unionen, 2014) and thereby a part of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP). The purpose of the policy is to make agriculture more efficient, create an adequate standard of living for farmers and to stabilize the market, which is accomplished through intervention prices and agricultural funding (Jordbruksverket, 2014b). The members of the European Union follow a common agricultural legislation with special directives for organic egg production. Examples of these directives are that 95 % of the feed should be organically produced whereof 20 % produced on the farm, pullets must be organically reared, each building compartment shall have a maximum of 3000 hens with a maximum of six hens per square meter, hens shall have access to an outdoor run with shelters and the pop-holes need to be at least four meters per 100 m² of the indoor area (Jordbruksverket, 2014c).

In Sweden most of the organic egg producers are members of the organic certification body KRAV that has even tougher requirements than EU. Some of these requirements include that hens shall be given KRAV-certificated feed of which 50 % must be produced on the farm; have access to root crops or forage to peck at, sand to dust bathe in and the farmer should have a planned health promotion that is not routine preventive (KRAV, 2014a). In December 2013 KRAV decided to change the rules about the use of the outdoor runs to ensure a maximum utilization. The changes included that an area of four m² per hen needs to be available within 150 m from the nearest pop-hole. If the farmer can demonstrate that the hens utilize the total outdoor run it is permissible that the area of four m² per hen can occur within 250 m from the pop-hole. During a transitional period until 31 of December 2015 it is accepted that the hens have access to an area of four m²/hen within 350 m from the pop-hole (KRAV, 2013).

As a result of the rule change there have been complaints from many egg producers who find the new requirements hard to fulfil and the major difficulty is for the farmers to encourage the hens to use the whole outdoor area. As a response, KRAV formed a project group with Malin Lovang as project leader and Åsa Odelros as supervisor to investigate different methods to increase the hens' utilization of the range.

This master thesis was included in the project and financed by Bertebos stiftelse. The purpose was to evaluate if the placement of the enrichment in the outdoor run has any impact on the distribution of the hens in the outdoor run. The trial was conducted on commercial farms and the same type of enrichment was placed in two different ways on each farm. The method was a quantitative behaviour study to determine which of the arrangements attracted most hens and encouraged them to move furthest in the outdoor run. There are several factors that can influence the utilization of an outdoor run such as design and placement of shelters, pop-hole dimensions, flock size, age of the hens when first given access to the outdoor area, hybrid and quality of the plumage. These aspects are included in the master thesis through a literature review and their impact on the use of the outdoor run is discussed together with the result of the trial.

2 Literature review

In organic egg production hens should have access to an outdoor run during at least one third of their lifetime and be able to forage (KRAV, 2014b). The purpose of the range is to increase the possibility to perform behaviours such as exploration and foraging and thus increase animal welfare. The outdoor run increases available space and lowers the density in the poultry house.

The advantages with an outdoor run are many, but the number of hens outdoors is often very low, being only a small percentage of the total population (Hegelund *et al.* 2005; Gilani *et al.* 2014). There are differences between individuals and some hens never enter the range on a daily basis (Icken *et al.*, 2008; Gebhardt-Henrich *et al.*, 2014). Some individuals stay outside during the total opening time while others only allow themselves a quick visit and some hens never go out during their whole lifetime (Icken *et al.*, 2008). Some hens move in and out of the poultry house several times during the day and those that have once visited the range seem to continue to go outside on a daily basis showing the importance of familiarisation (Icken *et al.*, 2008).

With support from earlier studies, in this section several factors that influence the use of the outdoor run are highlighted. They are discussed together with the results from the trial in the last section of this master thesis.

2.1 Enrichment in the outdoor run

The laying hen hybrids used in modern egg production originate from the red jungle fowl (*Gallus gallus*) in Asia. The red jungle fowl's natural habitat is a tropical environment with vegetation and trees (Collias and Collias, 1967) that is very different from many of the outdoor runs in modern organic egg production systems. To increase the attractiveness of the outdoor run it needs to be enriched to be more similar to the hens' natural environment and to meet their behavioural needs. Poultry are prey animals with both aerial predators and predators on the ground and therefore seek security in trees or underneath covers.

2.1.1 Artificial shelters

Many studies have investigated the importance of enriching the range with artificial shelters to attract more hens to use the outdoor area (see Table 1) and most of the authors, except Zeltner and Hirt (2003), have seen a positive correlation regardless of what type of shelter was offered. Nagle and Glatz (2012) enriched the outdoor run with shade cloth which increased the number of hens to 43 % compared to 25 % in the control group and three times more hens used the shaded area compared to areas without shade. Hegelund *et al.* (2005) increased the number of hens on the range by enriching the outdoor area with several small tents with a diameter of 2.5 m and a height of 1.2 m, but the presence of hens outdoors was only eleven percent with enrichment and nine percent without.

Type of enrichment	% of hens in trial range	% of hens in control range
¹ Trial	On average	On average
Roofed boxes with sand:	22.5 %	21.5 %
210 x 110 cm	No significant difference	
2 boxes placed 68 m from the openings		
<u>Control</u>		
No enrichment		
² <u>Trial</u>	Morning: 43.2 %	Morning: 24.7 %
Waterproof shade cloth on four posts	Afternoon: 30.7 %	Afternoon: 40.2 %
10 and 20 m from the poultry house		
<u>Control</u>		
No enrichment		
² <u>Trial</u>	Six times more hens than	Six times less hens than trial
Waterproof shade cloth (average 35 m ²)	control	
fixed on 4 posts		
Located 30 and 60 m from the poultry house		
Control		
No enrichment		
³ <u>Trial</u>	On average 11 %	On average 9 %
Dome shaped tents: 2.5 m in diameter and		
1.2 m in height, 1 tent/ 50 hens		
Starting 20 m from the poultry house		
Control		
No enrichment		
¹ Zeltner and Hirt (2003)		
² Nagle and Glatz (2012)		

Table 1. Results of enriching the range with artificial shelters

³ Hegelund *et al.* (2005)

Shelterbelt is a way of placing shelters in a long row. This often functions as a windbreaker and is a commonly used enrichment in ranges for laying hens. In Table 2 several studies that have used different types of shelterbelts are shown. Borland *et al.* (2010) used shelterbelts consisting of trees in pots with different heights and saw a significantly higher percentage of hens outdoors with these structures compared to when there was no enrichment. Nagle and Glatz (2012) also used shelterbelts consisting of pots with trees or shrubs and saw a 17 times increase in the number of hens on the range compared to without enrichment. Rault *et al.* (2013) compared the impact of 18-meter long vertical structures with empty control areas and found that there were five times more hens close to the structures than in the control area.

 Table 2. Results of enriching the range with shelterbelts

Type of enrichment	Hens in trial	Hens in control
¹ Trial	Morning: 40.8 %	Morning: 22.1 %
Shelterbelts: shrubs in pots	Afternoon: 45.4 %	Afternoon: 27.6 %
6 m ² : 3 m x 2 m		
10 and 20 m from the poultry house		
<u>Control</u>		
No enrichment		
¹ <u>Trial</u>	17 times more hens	
Shelterbelts: shade areas between 15-30 m ²	than control	
Located 15 and 30 m from the poultry house		
<u>Control</u>		
No enrichment		
² <u>Trial</u>	On average 67.4 %	On average 52.3 %
Trees in pots with heights 1, 2 or 3 m		
Shrubs in pots with height of 1 m		
Located 10 and 20 m from the poultry house		
Control		
No enrichment		
³ <u>Trial</u>	* On average	* On average
Two parallel 0.8 m high fences, 1 m apart, starting	0.2 %	0.04 %
1 m from winter garden, 16.4 m long with 0.7 m		
gaps after each 5 m		
<u>Control</u>		
No enrichment		
¹ Nagle and Glatz (2012)		

² Borland *et al.* (2010)

³ Rault *et al.* (2013), * Numbers are modified, see calculations in Appendix 1

Not only do the farmers want to increase the number of hens using the range, it is also important to increase the distribution of hens over the total outdoor area. In the study by Rault *et al.* (2013) the authors also compared how far out the hens would go when enriching the range with 18-meter long vertical structures and found that hens in the control area only went six meters out in the range. Near the vertical structures the hens instead moved up to 18 meters, indicating that the structures encourage them to move as far out as there was protection. The vertical structures consisted of three different materials with the thickest and less light permeable material at the part closest to the poultry house. Most hens stayed close to the vertical structure with the thickest material and the authors suggested that this material was more attractive than the other thinner and light permeable materials (Rault *et al.*, 2013).

Borland *et al.* (2010) could also see hens moving further out on the range with shelterbelts compared to no enrichment and Dawkins *et al.* (2003) saw an increased tendency for birds to move further out in the range when it was enriched with bushes and trees compared to only containing grass.

2.1.2 Natural enrichment

According to the organic legislation in the EU the range shall be covered with vegetation that provides the hens with the possibility to forage (Jordbruksverket, 2014c) and access to pasture on the range has been shown to increase the attractiveness for hens (Nagle and Glatz *et al.*, 2012). The type of vegetation used in the outdoor run therefore needs to be both attractive and

also resistant and viable. Soft leaf blades increased the pecking behaviour towards vegetation among the hens in a study by Breitsameter et al. (2014), especially in the presence of the swards Agrostis stolonifera L. Barifera, Poa pratensis L. Julius and Poa supina Schrad. The sward degradation increased with increased stocking period and by that a reduction in pecking behaviour. The plant P. supina was the most tolerant herb and received the highest number of pecks from the hens.

By enriching the range with vegetation the number of hens outdoors could be increased (Table 3). Nagle and Glatz (2012) offered hens access to pasture with sorghum or enriched the range with hay bales and saw an increase of 17 and eight times respectively compared to a control range. In another trial with wheat or vetch pasture compared with no pasture the control area had a higher percentage of birds during the morning, but in the afternoon the percentage of hens on the pasture enriched range were higher than the control. Dekker et al. (2012) saw a higher percentage of hens outdoors when the range was enriched with bushes and trees. This supports the work of Mirabito et al. (2001) who showed that broilers preferred a range with tall vegetation such as trees, corn and weeds. Even the length of the grass was important, with higher grass being more favourable than lower (Bubier and Bradshaw, 1998).

% of hens in trial range	% of hens in control range
13 %	1.7 %
No difference on time:	Morning: on average 54 %
on average 45 %	Afternoon: on average 30 %
Sorghum: 17 times more hens than	
control	
Hay bale: 8 times more hens than	
control	
More birds in the range, no	Less hens in the range No
percentage were given	percentage were given
** On average: 60.7 %	** On average: 13.4 %
-	-
Tall grass:	Short grass:
on average 42.1 %	Between 5.1 - 11.1 %
	% of hens in trial range13 %No difference on time: on average 45 %Sorghum: 17 times more hens than controlHay bale: 8 times more hens than controlMore birds in the range, no percentage were given** On average: 60.7 %Tall grass: on average 42.1 %

Table 3. Results of enriching the range with vegetation

²Nagle and Glatz (2012)

³ Dawkins *et al.* (2003)

⁴Mirabito *et al.* (2001) ** Numbers are modified, se calculations in Appendix 2

⁵Bubier and Bradshaw (1998)

2.1.3 Impact of design and number of enrichments

As previous stated, the impact of shelters in the range has been investigated several times, but there have been few trials comparing the design or number of shelters. Bestman and Wagenaar (2003) could see an increased number of hens in the outdoor run with an increased number of covers but Zeltner and Hirt (2008), on the other hand, did not find any difference in the percentage of hens on the range when offering five shelters compared to only one. They did however see an increased movement among the hens, which indicates that the number of shelters has an impact on birds' exploratory behaviour. The hens also went outside earlier in the day, which suggests that access to more shelters decreased their fear levels.

Zeltner and Hirt (2008) also compared broilers' use of ranges enriched with a two-level perch, a pecking-tree, fir-cones, two fir-trees and shelters with a range with only simple structures and saw a higher number of hens in the range with the more complex structures (Table 4). Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.* (2014) also enriched the range with perches or vertical panels as windbreakers but did not see an increase in the outdoor use (Table 4). The authors, however, believe that this could be due to that the perches were placed too close to the popholes and that the vertical panels were too unstable in their structure and moved when the weather was windy which was probably daunting for the birds. The average outdoor use was, however, over all very low and more than 60 % of the broilers never entered the outdoor area. When Nagle and Glatz (2012) offered pasture or hay bales to laying hens they did see a higher number of hens in the range compared to when it was enriched with shelterbelts or shade cloths.

Type of enrichment	% of hens in trial range	% of hens in control range
¹ <u>Trial</u>	No significant difference	No significant difference
9 vertical panels:	-	-
Pipes with plastic green mesh,		
0.5 x 0.5 m		
<u>Control</u>		
No enrichment		
¹ <u>Trial</u>	No significant difference	No significant difference
9 perches:		
50 cm long and 25 cm high		
Placed parallel to the pop holes		
<u>Control</u>		
No enrichment		
² <u>Trial</u>	Five shelters	One shelter
Five shelters	On total average 32.1 %	On total average 24.4 %
(covering 5 % of the area)	Morning: 32.2 %	Morning 23.7 %
Control	Afternoon: 31.9 %	Afternoon 25.0 %
One shelter (covering 1 % of the area)		
² <u>Trial</u>	Different objects	Five simple shelters
Four different objects:	Morning: 39.3 %	Morning: 32.4 %
- Two-level perch	Afternoon: 39.5 %	Afternoon: 27.1 %
- Pecking tree		
- Box with fir-cones		
- Two small fir-trees		
Control		
Five simple shelters		
Five simple shelters		

Table 4. Percentage of hens outdoor when enriching the range with a number of shelters or objects other than shelters

¹ Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.* (2014)

² Zeltner and Hirt (2008)

In addition to seeking security, enrichment on the range could also increase other behaviours. When Zeltner and Hirt (2008) enriched the range with more complex structures described in the previous paragraph, behaviours such as resting, pecking, scratching, moving and standing were increased. Most of the hens chose to stay close to structures that provided shelter and shaded areas, which shows that seeking protection is most important, compared to other behaviours (Zeltner and Hirt, 2008). When Rault *et al.* (2013) enriched the range with vertical panels the hens were seen pecking at the structures about 40 % of the total time. Moving and lying were on the other hand reduced and preening was seen more frequently in the control area.

Cornetto and Estevez (2001) saw increased resting and dust bathing behaviours when broilers were offered vertical cover panels. The total amount of preening and standing did not differ between treatments, but there was a higher frequency for these behaviours in the centre of the range when the birds were offered cover panels in that part of the area. Lubac and Mirabito (2001) saw that chickens preferred the behaviour standing in open areas with no cover and lying down in areas with cover. The authors also stated that lying down was a preferred behaviour by the chickens and ranges enriched with structures providing shade therefore were more attractive. Borland *et al.* (2010) saw a significantly higher frequency of foraging and running among laying hens when the range was enriched with shelterbelts.

2.1.4 Observation methods with an enriched outdoor run

There are different ways to measure the use of the outdoor run (Table 5). In several studies the range was divided in zones marked on the fence or with sticks in the ground, to facilitate the counting of the birds (Mirabito *et al.*, 2001; Zeltner and Hirt, 2003; Hegelund *et al.*, 2005; Borland *et al.*, 2010; Dekker *et al.*, 2012; Rault *et al.*, 2013). The number of days the observations were performed ranged between one day and 41 days for each flock (Bubier and Bradshaw, 1998; Mirabito *et al.*, 2001; Dawkins *et al.*, 2003; Zeltner and Hirt, 2003; Hegelund *et al.*, 2005; Zeltner and Hirt, 2008; Borland *et al.*, 2010; Dekker *et al.*, 2012; Nagle and Glatz, 2012; Rault *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.*, 2014). The observations were in most cases executed at short intervals or on several occasions each day.

The study by Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.* (2014) was the only one with observations on the movements of individual hens in the range while in the other trials only the total number of hens outside was determined. Some authors used video recordings or photographing (Borland *et al.*, 2010; Dekker *et al.*, 2012; Nagle and Glatz, 2012; Rault *et al.*, 2013) but the use of direct observations was the most commonly used method (Zeltner and Hirt, 2003; Hegelund *et al.*, 2005; Borland *et al.*, 2010; Dekker *et al.*, 2012; Rault *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.*, 2014). The climate depends on season and country and it can have an impact on the results in a trial. It is therefore stated in Table 5 where and when the trials were executed.

Zones	Number of days	Recordings each day	Recording method	Country & Season
¹ 4 zones	3 days	8 scan samples each day between 10.30 - 20.30 in	By an observer	Switzerland
		first trial and 12.00 - 16.00 in second trial.		1st trial: April - May
				2nd trial: Aug - Sept
² 1) 0-10 m	2 days/ season	Unstated	By an observer	The Netherlands
2) 10-25 m			Photographs were taken when it was too	All seasons
3) > 25 m			difficult to count the hens.	
³ No zones	6 days	1 h in the morning and 1 h in the afternoon	Video recordings	South Australia
				Winter
⁴ 3 zones	6-41 days	15 min after opening and lasted until 17.00.	By an observer	Denmark
	-	90 % recordings between 08.42 and 15.35.	-	All seasons
$^{5}1) < 10 \text{ m}$	5 times/week.	Unstated	Observer + weakly video recordings.	Australia
2) > 10 m	8 weeks			May - July
⁶ No zones	6 weeks	6 observations during one day/ week between	(Broiler) 40 birds with individual plastic ID	Northern Spain
		10.00 - 17.00.	tags. Registering the coordinates for each tagged	
			bird.	March - September
⁷ 3 zones:	5 days	Scan sampling at 30-min intervals between	Video cameras. Counting birds up to 10	Australia
(5 m x 5 m)		12.00 - 21.00.	individuals and increments of 10 above that.	Summer
⁸ No zones	One time	Between opening (08.00-09.00) and closing (18.00-	(Broiler) An observer counted and	United Kingdom
		20.00)	photographed the birds	All seasons
⁹ 1) 0 - 21 m	8-11 weeks	3 times a day (morning, noon and evening), twice a	Observer counted:	France
2) 21 - 42 m		week	- Percentage of hens outside	March-June
3) 42 - 64.5 m			- Average distance	
			- Percentage of surface visited	
¹⁰ No zones	2 days	Every hour during 05.00 - 20.00	By an observer	United Kingdom
				May-June
¹¹ No zones	3 days	20 min intervals	Observer	Switzerland
		Morning: 9 scans, afternoon: 9 scans		Season not stated
		> totally 18 scans per day		

 Table 5. Methods used to state the use of the enriched outdoor run among different studies.

¹Zeltner and Hirt (2003); ²Dekker *et al.* (2012); ³Nagle and Glatz (2012); ⁴Hegelund *et al.* (2005); ⁵Borland *et al.* (2010); ⁶Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.* (2014); ⁷Rault *et al.* (2013); ⁸Dawkins *et al.* (2003); ⁹Mirabito *et al.* (2001); ¹⁰Bubier and Bradshaw (1998); ¹¹Zeltner and Hirt (2008)

2.2 Flock size

In the European Commission's organic legislation the laying hen flock size should not exceed 3000 hens (Jordbruksverket, 2014c). It has been shown in several studies that flock size have an impact on the use of the outdoor run and the frequency increases with smaller flock sizes (Bestman and Wagenaar, 2003; Hegelund *et al.*, 2005; Gebhardt-Henrich *et al.*, 2014). Hirt *et al.* (2000) saw a decrease from 41.2 % of hens on the range in a flock with 50 individuals to 19.5 % in a flock with 3000 hens. The authors suggested that with a larger group the available area per hen is lower with a decreased access to the range. This is supported by the fact that the majority of hens in all groups stayed in the area closest to the poultry house (Hirt *et al.*, 2000). Gilani *et al.* (2014) also saw a higher percentage of hens on the range when flock sizes were smaller when comparing flock sizes in a range of about 90-16000 birds. Flocks that exceeded 3000 individuals were from free-range systems and not from an organic production. Gebhardt-Henrich *et al.* (2014) also saw less foraging behaviour in hens in large flocks with 9000-18000 hens compared to flocks with 2000-9000 hens. These hens were also from farms with free-range systems and not from an organic production.

2.3 Impact of age

The age of the hens seems to have an impact on their use of the outdoor run but the results have led to different conclusions between studies. According to Gilani *et al.* (2014) pullets range at a higher frequency than older hens and 28 % of eight-week-old hens used the range compared with only 13 % of 16-week-old hens. This was also seen by Hegelund *et al.* (2005) where the number of hens on the range decreased with increased age. The authors were surprised by the results and had expected increased outdoor use with increased familiarity. They discussed several reasons for the unexpected results including poor plumage, decreased activity rate or that experience of predators increased the fear levels (Hegelund *et al.*, 2005).

Hocking *et al.* (2001) proposes that the fear level among hens increases with age and that this could be a reason why the use of the outdoor run decreases when the hens get older. In that trial, the authors exposed hens to novel objects, measured the fear level with tonic immobility and discovered that the fear level decreased with increase in age. The result disproved the authors' hypothesis but they suspect that the results were affected by an increase in familiarity with the test method (Hocking *et al.* 2001). Zeltner and Hirt (2003) on the other hand, did see a higher usage of the range by older hens, which they assumed was due to increased familiarity with the outdoor area. The number of hens outdoors were however low for all ages. In free-range broilers both Mirabito and Lubac (2001) and Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.* (2014) saw an increase in the outdoor use with increased age and the birds also used a greater proportion of the range.

At what age the hens are first offered access to the outdoor run seems to affect how much they will use it during the rest of their life time. The younger the hens are when arriving to the farm the higher percentage will use the outdoor run during the rest of the production period (Grigor *et al.*, 1995; Gilani *et al.*, 2014). Gilani *et al.* (2014) discovered that if hens got access to the outdoor run at eight weeks of age, an average of 28 % went outdoors during the trial period. As a comparison, only twelve percent of the hens used the range when they first got access to the outdoor run at 16 weeks of age. It is therefore important to offer an attractive outdoor area already at a young age (Bestman and Wagenaar, 2003). This is probably because the level of

fear is lower at a lower age when the hens first get access to the outdoor run (Grigor *et al.*, 1995).

2.4 Climate, season and time of day

In countries with a temperate climate like Sweden, it is allowed to keep the organic hens inside during the cold season (Odelros, 2011). Some farms offer a protected transition area between the poultry house and the outdoor run, a so-called winter garden, veranda or bad weather run. Its purpose is to give the hens access to fresh air, natural day light and the possibility to dust bathe when the outdoor run is too unattractive due to bad weather conditions (Cooper et al., 2007). The winter garden is not included in the space of the outdoor run but is instead a part of the indoor area. It is also permitted to be used as temporary outdoor access when the outdoor run needs to be closed due to e.g. avian influenza (Odelros and Gustafson, 2007).

The climate also has an impact on hens' willingness to use the range and precipitation and increased wind speed are factors that decrease the percentage of hens in the range (Hegelund *et al.*, 2005; Gilani *et al.*, 2014). The temperature also has an impact, where the most favourable temperature seems to be at around 17°C with a decreasing number of hens in the outdoor run both at lower and at higher temperatures. If the outside temperature is high and there is little shade on the range, the climate inside the poultry house is more favourable (Hegelund *et al.*, 2005). Zeltner and Hirt (2003 & 2008) could however not see any difference in the number of hens on the range in different weather conditions. On overcast days the hens did however show a greater interest in different structures. The authors believe that it could be due to a lower level of fear among the hens during these weather conditions.

The ranging frequency also differs between seasons but what season seems to be most preferable differs between studies. In a study performed in Denmark Hegelund *et al.* (2005) concluded that autumn seems to be more favourable than spring, probably as an effect of the more unstable weather condition in early spring. In a trial executed in the United Kingdom Dawkins *et al.* (2003) on the other hand found that a higher number of birds were outside during spring and summer compared with winter and the hens preferred to be outside during warm cloudy days. Bright sunlight seems to decrease the number of birds in the range and mostly in those outdoor runs without presence of covers (Dawkins *et al.*, 2003). In Australia Nagle and Glatz (2012) saw that hens were more attracted to the shaded areas beneath the shelters in the outdoor run during the summer compared to during winter.

Whether the time of day has an impact, or not on range use is still uncertain. Hegelund *et al.* (2005) saw a decrease of hens on the range throughout the day with lowest number at five in the afternoon. The recordings did however stop after that time and number of hens outside in the late afternoon and evening is therefore unknown. On the contrary, Rault *et al.* (2013) and Dawkins *et al.* (2003) saw a higher number of hens in late afternoon and evening. Bubier and Bradshaw (1998) also saw that the number of hens increased with increased time of day where the highest percentage of hens were seen at 18.00 o'clock whereas the lowest number were seen two to four hours after opening of the pop-holes. The behaviour of the hens also differs with time of day and Zeltner and Hirt (2008) concluded that hens feel more insecure during the morning and therefore seek shelter to a greater extent at that time of day. In the afternoon the fear level seems to decrease and the hens become more active and spend more time to perform other behaviours.

2.5 The poultry house

The design of the poultry house together with its interior could have an impact on the animal welfare and also the hens' willingness to use the range. Shelters and other structures are as already mentioned attractive to poultry regardless if they are placed inside or outside the poultry house.

It is not allowed to feed the poultry on the range because of the increased risk of attracting vermin and by that an increased risk of infection. Instead the feed are to be provided inside the poultry house, either at set feeding times or *ad libitum*. Bubier and Bradshaw (1998) saw that feeding *ad libitum* had a favouring effect on number of hens using the outdoor run because the hens felt less need to keep close to the poultry house in anticipation of the next feeding.

According to the EU regulation on organic egg production laying hens shall be offered natural daylight and complementing artificial light during a maximum of 16 hours a day with a minimum of cohesive darkness during eight hours (Jordbruksverket, 2014c). The difference in light intensity between inside the poultry house and the range can affect the hens' willingness to go outside. Gilani *et al.* (2014) saw a higher number of hens in the outdoor run when the light inside the poultry house was more intense. When the light inside is more intense the difference in light between outside and inside is reduced and the hens therefore dare to go out. Dekker *et al.* (2012) saw that the range with the highest percentage of hens had a transparent curtain between the winter garden and the pasture causing a low difference in light intensity.

The EU regulation on organic egg production requires that the size of the pop-holes should be at least four meter per 100 m² of available area inside the poultry house (Jordbruksverket, 2014c). Each pop hole should be at least 35 cm high and 40 cm wide and there must be at least a two-meter opening per 1000 hens (European Union, 1999). According to the regulation of KRAV the pop-holes should also be evenly spread along the wall facing the range (KRAV, 2014c). The size and availability of the pop-holes could have an impact on the number of hens using the outdoor run. Gilani *et al.* (2014) stated that with greater length of the pop-holes the percentage of hens on the range increases because it thus decreases the distance to the closest pop-hole. This was however disproved by Harlander-Matauschek *et al.* (2006) who did not find any differences in the usage of the range with different pop-hole sizes. The authors did however highlight that the smallest pop-hole was 2.34 m/1000 hens, which is more than the minimum requirements and probably wide enough to provide the hens with ample space to go out.

2.6 Feather pecking and cannibalism

The mortality in organic egg production is higher than the conventional systems, especially compared to cage systems (Borell and Sørensen, 2004; Fossum *et al.*, 2009). In a Swedish investigation it was concluded that the most common cause of mortality in free-range systems was bacteriological diseases and thereafter cannibalism (Fossum *et al.*, 2009).

Feather pecking is a common problem in the organic egg production and Bestman *et al.* (2009) found that more than 50 % of the flocks with organic laying hens had a feather pecking prevalence of more than six percent of the birds during the rearing period. However, which hybrid was used in the study was not specified. This problem behaviour can be linked to animal welfare issues and is e.g. correlated to a higher mortality (Bright *et al.*, 2011). Feather pecking is a difficult problem to manage and if it occurs during the rearing period it will to a

high extent continue during the rest of the laying period (Bestman & Wagenaar, 2006; Bestman *et al.*, 2009).

Beak trimming is a method to prevent the occurrence of feather pecking but yet only a method that hides the problem, not resolve its cause. In both conventional and organic production systems in Sweden all types of mutilations including beak trimming, are prohibited (Svenska Ägg, 2014) and strictly regulated in organic production in the EU (European Union, 2007). Even so, beak trimmed hens may occur on organic egg farms in some EU countries because they are mutilated at an early age and thus before it is determined if they are to be sold to organic or conventional farms (Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, 2000). In Canada (PWGSC, 2011) and in United States of America (GPO, 2015) it is allowed to beak trim organic laying hens if necessary to prevent behavioural problems.

Poor plumage caused by feather pecking decreases the hen's ability to maintain her body temperature and she is more vulnerable to wind and rain. It is therefore possible to believe that she would be less willing to go outside if her plumage condition is poor but few studies have investigated this hypothesis. Several authors have on the other hand, stated that the level of feather pecking decreases with access to an outdoor run (Bestman & Wagenaar, 2003; Shimmura *et al.*, 2008). The reason is not clear but could be due to an increase in stimulation together with a lower density inside the poultry house. Some authors have declared that even if the hens have access to a range, the feather pecking behaviour increases when the use of the outdoor run is low (Pötzsch *et al.*, 2001; Nicol *et al.*, 2003; Shimmura *et al.*, 2008). Bright *et al.* (2011) saw decreased plumage damage when hens had access to canopy shelters in the outdoor run and Mahboub *et al.* (2004) saw as a consequence of low outdoor usage that the white hybrid had a higher level of plumage damage.

Even if several studies indicate that feather pecking decreases with outdoor use it is not always the case (Gilani *et al.*, 2014). Nagle & Glatz (2012) could not see any difference in feather pecking or plumage condition between hens with or without access to shelters or forage in the outdoor run. The overall feather pecking was however very low and could be due to the small flock sizes during the trial.

2.7 Hybrids

The laying hens used in the commercial egg industry derive from a few large international breeding companies and have been highly selected for increased production. Consequently exploratory and foraging behaviours has decreased as well as fear for predators which is lower in the domestic hybrid compared to the ancestor Red jungle fowl (Schütz *et al.*, 2001).

There are differences in use of hybrids between countries and in e.g. Sweden (SLU, 2010) and Switzerland (Gebhardt-Henrich *et al.*, 2014) white hybrids are most commonly used while brown hybrids are dominating in most European countries (SLU, 2010). Behavioural differences have been found between the commercial strains used in the egg production and especially between white and brown hybrids. White hybrids seem to have a better ability to adapt to new environments due to their lively temperament and therefore have a lower mortality in loose housing systems compared to brown hybrids (Tauson *et al.*, 1999).

Which hybrid to use can be important in organic egg production because of the difference in use of the outdoor run. Gebhardt-Henrich *et al.* (2014) found a higher percentage of hens

outdoor in flocks with brown hybrids compared with white hybrids. Mahboub *et al.* (2004) also saw a smaller usage of the range by the white Lohmann Selected Leghorn (LSL) compared to brown Lohmann Traditional, a result due to the white LSL being a more anxious hybrid. Even if the meat production differs in several aspects from the egg production Dal Bosco et al. (2010) saw great differences in number of chickens outdoors and also distance moved when comparing a slow growing with a fast growing broiler genotype. This indicates that when breeding for high production traits it could lead to a decrease in other behaviours, such as exploration and foraging. The reduced activity in the fast growing broiler could according to the authors also be due to the higher prevalence of foot damages in that genotype.

Elwinger *et al.* (2008) saw a higher usage of the range with the experimental genotype SH (Swedish Hen, SLU-1329) that is a cross between the experimental strains Rhode Island Red and White Leghorn, compared to the Lohmann Selected Leghorn. In another trial by the same authors the percentage of hens outdoors was higher with Hyline compared to SH. Both Hyline and SH had better plumage condition than LSL. This suggests that some hybrids might be more adapted to organic conditions than others (Elwinger *et al.*, 2008).

2.7.1 Feather pecking among different hybrids

The genetic selection for the commercial laying hybrids has been focused on cage systems. Sørensen (2001) addressed in 2001 that with an increased number of loose housing and range systems, other traits such as increased nesting behaviour, decreased feather pecking and cannibalism needed to be included in future breeding programs. A decreased live weight is also included in the breeding program for laying hens and Kjaer and Sørensen (1997) believe that there is a correlation between the lower body weight within hybrids and increased feather pecking. The authors consider that feather pecking is best reduced by selection on wellfeathered individuals as has been done in Denmark with good results.

Brown hybrids show high production and good health in cage systems but with the increasing number of loose housing systems this hybrid meets several problems such as feather pecking. In conventional production this behaviour is prevented through beak trimming but exists in organic production where this mutilation is prohibited. Tauson *et al.* (1999) saw a much higher feed intake, worse plumage condition and higher mortality in Lohmann Brown (LB) kept in a loose housing system compared to cage systems. In contrast, the white LSL showed no difference in performance or health between the different systems. Tauson *et al.* (1999) also compared mortality between the hybrids in a loose housing system and found a much higher incidence in the brown hybrid as well as a higher feed consumption ratio due to poor plumage condition. Elwinger and Tauson (1999) would recommend using white hybrids in loose housing systems because of the lower risk of feather pecking when beak trimming is not allowed.

Kjaer & Sørensen (2002) also saw a higher frequency of feather pecking, poor plumage condition and skin damage in the brown hybrid ISA Brown and comb damage in New Hampshire whilst the white hybrid White Leghorn had no plumage damage at all. The mortality was highest in ISA Brown and mostly caused by cannibalism. In another trial by the same authors ISA Brown had the lowest incidence of feather pecking compared to the Danish Landrace and LSL, where the Danish Landrace was absolutely worst (Kjaer & Sørensen, 2002). Kjaer and Sørensen (1997) saw five times higher frequency of feather pecking in the brown hybrids LB and ISA compared to the white hybrid LSL at 38 weeks of age. There are

also differences in behaviour between white hybrids and Elwinger and Tauson (1999) saw a higher feed consumption due to a worse plumage condition in DeKalb compared to LSL. As a consequence the mortality was also higher with the higher incidence of feather pecking.

3 Material and methods

The practical part of the master thesis was conducted on four commercial farms with the purpose to compare if different placings of shelters in the outdoor run can attract more hens to use and move further out on the range. Two different arrangements were compared, with enrichment placed in a line in one set and in a zigzag formation in the other. The hens had access to both arrangements during the whole trial period and the two arrangements consisted of the same number and same type of structures. The number of hens in the trial zone was counted as well as the distribution of the hens with regard to the distance from the poultry house and within the area of each set of enrichment.

3.1 Design and placement of the enrichment

Each arrangement of enrichment consisted of eight artificial roofs with four wooden legs and a tin roof (Figure 1) and eight big straw bales. With two different placements the total amount of enrichment in each range was thereby 16 roofs and 16 straw bales. The first set of enrichment was placed in a line with a straw bale and thereafter a roof and so on (Figure 2 & 3). In the second arrangement pairs with one roof together with a straw bale was placed in a zigzag formation with ten meters in diagonal from each other (Figure 3 & 4).



Figure 1. A shelter with a tin roof and four wooden legs



Figure 2. Enrichment placed in a line with shelters and straw bales one after another



Figure 3. Drawing of the arrangements of the enrichment on each farm.



Figure 4. Placement of shelter and straw bale in the zigzag arrangement

The trial was an on-farm study conducted on four different organic egg farms in the region of Östergötland in Sweden between April and May in 2015. All farms had between 12000-18000 hens of one of the white hybrids, LSL or Bovans that were between 25 and 47 weeks old (Table 6). The hens of all four farms had not had access to a range before the actual season. They had been let out between 19-40 days before the trial and the enrichments were placed on the range between 8-40 days before the first observation. All farms used so-called shared grass ley pasture with other species and with pop-hole openings on both sides of the poultry house, although the trial's enrichment was only arranged on one side of the house. The length of time for access to the outdoor run was approximately twelve hours a day and the pop-holes were opened at 08.00 or 09.00 in the morning and closing at 21.00 in the evening. Both the line and the zigzag arrangement reached out between 80-85 meters from the poultry house out in the range.

Farm	1	2	3	4
No. of hens	12000	18000	18000	18000
Roosters (no.)	Yes (unstated)	Yes (63)	Yes (85)	Yes (unstated)
Hybrid	Bovans	LSL	LSL	Bovans
Other species in range	Yes, sheep	Yes, horses*	Yes, sheep*	Yes, sheep*
No of feeding times	Five times/day	Five times/day	Six times/day	Six times/day
Age at trial	30 weeks	25 weeks	27 weeks	47 weeks
First access to range	10 April	2 April	5 April	1 April
First access to the trial's enrichment	20 April	7 April	13 April	1 April
Opening time	09.00	08.00	09.00	09.00
Closing time	21.00	21.00	21.00	21.00
Time of light	16 h	15.5 h	16 h	16 h
Indoor system	Aviary system	Aviary system	Aviary system	Aviary system
Winter garden	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table 6. Details of the housing system and routines on each farm in the trial

*The other species in Farm 2, 3 and 4 where not present during the trial but where to be inserted in the outdoor run later during the summer.

To decrease the risk of bias due to environmental differences, the placing of the enrichment varied between the farms. On two farms the zigzag formation was placed on the left side of the poultry house and the line formation on the right side. On the other two farms it was arranged in the opposite way. To minimise the risk of placing the first enrichment too far away from the poultry house it was positioned five meters out on Farm 3 and 4 and ten meters out on the other two farms.

3.2 Collection of data

Since the hens on all four farms had access to the outdoor run on both sides of the poultry house it was not possible to count the total number of hens outside at each visit. The trial area of the range was divided into 15 zones to simplify the counting of hens and to measure the distance between the hens and the poultry house. The trial area was divided into five distances from the poultry house: 0-20 m, 20-35 m, 35-50 m, 50-65 m and 65-85 m. Each distance was divided into three parts of the same size: one surrounding the line formation, the zigzag formation and the last one including the empty control area. The zones were not marked and the observer used the enrichment as help to divide the area into zones. For example, on the farms where the enrichment started ten meters from the poultry house the first distance

included a straw bale and a roof in the line arrangement and one straw bale and roof in the zigzag arrangement, and so on.

Each farm was visited seven times and observations were made during one hour at every visit. Two farms were visited each observation day, one during the morning right after time of pophole opening and the other in the afternoon sometime between 15.00 and 18.00 o'clock. Time for the afternoon visit was decided each day with help of the weather report and observations during heavy rain or very strong wind were avoided if possible. Every farm had three to four visits during opening time and three to four visits during the afternoon. On each visit the observer counted the number of hens in each zone at intervals of ten minutes with a total of six observations for each farm and day. The weather was registered at each visit and categorized as: 1 = Sun and blue sky, 2 = Sun and clouds, 3 = Overcast and 4 = Rain. The temperature was also stated as well as the wind: 1 = Calm, 2 = Moderate, 3 = Strong and 4 = Very strong. The observer estimated weather visually and wind by sense while the thermometer in the car registered the temperature.

On one occasion on each farm the observer went inside the poultry house to score the plumage condition and measure light intensity. To score the plumage condition the observer walked through the poultry house and looked at 100 hens. The hens were chosen randomly by shifting the gaze between hens on the floor, in the nest and at feeders on all the levels in the aviary. The plumage condition of each hen was visually and roughly estimated and given a score between 1-5 with guidance by LaBrash and Scheideler (2005): 1 = Fully feathered, 2 = Tousled but no naked areas, 3 = < 5 cm naked areas, 4 = > 5 cm naked areas and 5 = Naked areas with wounds or/and blood. The light intensity was measured in lux using a digital luxmeter (Mastech® MS6610 Luxmeter) at five different places: at feed tray, at pop-hole inside the poultry house, veranda, inside the veranda at pop-hole facing the outdoor run and outdoors.

3.3 Statistical analyses

The number of hens in the different areas, control, zigzag and line were compared, both for the total trial area and at different distances from the poultry house. The values used were the average number of hens for each farm. Since the data was not normally distributed the non-parametric Wilcoxon signed rank test was used. To investigate the impact of the climate and time of day, correlation analyses were performed. All analyses were carried out with the statistical program Excel (Microsoft® Excel® for Mac 2011 Version 14.5.2).

4 Results

The mean percentage of hens outdoors on the side of the poultry house where the trial was executed, ranged between 0.16 - 1.77 % of the total population on each farm, with the lowest percentage on Farm 4 and the highest on Farm 3. The number of hens in the total trial area ranged from 2-386 individuals depending on day and farm. The number of hens varied between 94-267 on Farm 1, 2-386 on Farm 2, 245-381 on Farm 3 and 16-56 on Farm 4.

4.1 Distribution of hens in the entire trial area

In Figure 5, a comparison between number of hens in the total area with enrichment and in the control area is demonstrated. It is shown that the areas with enrichment seem to be more

attractive to the hens on at least three of four farms with a more apparent result in Farm 3. The number of hens in Farm 4 shows no difference in number of hens between enriched areas and the control area, but the farm had a very low number of hens outside.



Figure 5. Number of hens (mean \pm st dev) in the control and enriched areas on each farm. Since the total enriched area is twice as large as the control, the dark grey columns represent the mean value of the two enriched areas and the light greys the control.

The average distribution of hens for all four farms together shows no clear difference between the area with enrichment arranged as a line and as a zigzag formation (Figure 6). The difference varies between farms with a higher number of hens within the zigzag area on Farm 1 and 3 while the line formation seem to be more attractive on Farm 2. The distribution of hens on Farm 4 shows no difference between treatments but the total number of hens outside was overall very low.



Figure 6. Number of hens (mean \pm st dev) in the three treatment areas in the four farms.

The average number of hens for all farms together for each treatment was 53.0 ± 46.9 (mean \pm stdev.), 83.5 ± 79.8 and 26.7 ± 19.3 within the Line, Zigzag and Control area respectively.

There was a tendency that there were more birds in the enriched areas compared with the control area (P=0.068) (Table 7). There were no significant difference between the areas with the line formation and the zigzag formation (P=0.465).

Table 7. Non-parametric statistic analysis with Wilcoxon signed rank test of distribution of hens in the total trial area, all four farms together. N=4 represents mean values from each farm. Since the total enriched area is twice as large as the control area the values used for the enriched areas are mean values.

	Ν	Mean	Range	P-value
Enrichment	4	70.06	9.94 - 146.01	0.068
Control	4	26.75	9.60 - 36.74	
Line	4	53.05	13.76 - 82.43	0.465
Zigzag	4	87.07	6.12 - 209.59	

4.2 Distribution of hens in different distances from the poultry house

During the experiment the trial area was divided into different zones to estimate the number of hens at different distances from the poultry house. The first zone included a distance of 0-20 m, the second 20-35 m, the third 35-50 m, the fourth 50-65 and the fifth 65-85 m. The results from the two latter distances were excluded because no or only a few hens were observed so far out. The average number of hens within the distance of 0-20 m varied greatly with observation day and farm, between 2-251 birds. At Farm 1-3 there was a higher number of hens in the enriched areas compared to the control area without enrichment. The fourth farm showed no difference but the number of hens outside was overall very low. In Table 8 it is shown that there was a difference in average number of hens in the enriched areas compared to the control area but the difference was not statistically significant (P=0.144). Since the total enriched area was twice as large as the control area, the average number of hens within the enriched area was divided by two. The difference in number of hens between the line and the zigzag formation was not clear but the zigzag formation seemed to be slightly more attractive on Farm 1 and 3 but not on Farm 2 where the result was rather the opposite. The difference in number of hens between the different placing of the enrichment within this distance was not statistically significant (P=0.465) (Table 8).

Within the distance of 20-35 m from the poultry house the number of hens was lower, between 0-88 hens depending on day and farm, compared to 0-20 m but the distribution was similar. Number of hens in the enriched areas was higher than in the control area on Farm 1-3 but no difference was seen in the fourth farm. The difference between the areas was not statistically significant with a P-value of 0.068. The number of hens on the latter farm was overall low, less then five hens in each treatment area. There was a marginally higher number of hens in the area with the zigzag formation than the line on Farm 1 and 3 but not on Farm 2. The difference was not statistically significant with a P-value of 0.465, which is shown in Table 8.

The number of hens within the distance of 35-50 m from the poultry house was overall very low on the four farms and especially on Farm 1, 2 and 4 with fewer than five hens in each treatment area. Only Farm 3 could encourage a higher number of hens to visit that area but the

amount varied between 21-56 individuals for each observation day. The difference between the enriched areas and the control was not statistically significant with a P-value of 0.068 (Table 8). The difference between number of hens in the zigzag area and the line was clear on Farm 3 with an evidently higher amount within the zigzag area. This could not be seen in any of the other three farms and there was no statistically significant difference between the two types of placements (P=0.465) (Table 8).

Table 8. Non-parametric statistic analysis with Wilcoxon signed rank test of the distribution of hens at different distances from the poultry house, all four farms together

Distance	Comparison	Ν	Mean	Range	P-value
0-20 m	Enrichment	4	52.46	8.94 - 92.07	0.144
	Control	4	25.32	9.6 - 36.31	
	Line	4	43.55	12.38 - 61.57	0.465
	Zigzag	4	61.37	5.50 - 129.26	
20-35 m	Enrichment	4	12.46	8.47 - 33.35	0.068
	Control	4	1.37	0.00 - 4.26	
	Line	4	8.21	0.74 - 21.64	0.465
	Zigzag	4	17.00	0.64 - 45.05	
35-50 m	Enrichment	4	4.98	0.12 - 19.36	0.068
	Control	4	0.07	0.00 - 0.29	
	Line	4	1.07	0.10 - 3.60	0.465
	Zigzag	4	8.89	0.00 - 35.12	

4.3 Plumage condition and light intensity

To take into account possible differences between the four farms the observer recorded the average plumage condition on one occasion on each farm and the results are shown in Table 9. On Farm 1-3 the hens were perfectly feathered with no visible sign of feather pecking. Farm 4 stood out with a poor plumage condition on almost all hens and approximately 80 % had visible naked areas and half of the population had naked areas larger than five cm (Table 9).

Table 9. Measured percentage of hens in each plumage score for every farm

	Plumage condition score*				
	1	2	3	4	5
Farm					
1	96	4	0	0	0
2	93	7	0	0	0
3	100	0	0	0	0
4	8	13	29	50	0

*1 = Fully feathered

2 = Tousled but no naked areas

3 = < 5 cm naked areas

4 = > 5 cm naked areas

5 = Naked areas with wounds or/and blood

At the same time as the plumage condition was evaluated, the light intensity in the poultry house was also measured. The purpose was to determine the difference between the four farms in light intensity between the indoor and outdoor environment and the increase in light between the different pop-hole entrances. The results are shown in Table 10 and the light intensity differed greatly between the feed tray (1-11 lux) and outdoors (>50000 lux) on all four farms. The light intensity inside the poultry house at the pop-hole opening to the winter garden differed between 86-915 lux with the lowest value at Farm 4 and the highest at Farm 3. The same pattern was seen in the middle of the winter garden where the values varied between 160-1569 with the lowest lux once again on Farm 4 and the highest on Farm 3. The last value of light intensity was measured inside the winter garden at the pop-hole entrance to the outdoor run and the results differed between 1915 to 9740 with the lowest value at Farm 1 and the highest again on Farm 3.

Farm	At feed tray	Pop-hole inside	Winter garden	Pop-hole winter garden
1	1	312	320	1915
2	11	428	1019	5876
3	1	915	1569	9740
4	1	86	160	4607

Table 10. Measured LUX-level at different places in the poultry house on each of the four farms

4.4 Climate and time of day

At each observation visit both the temperature, weather, time of day and wind strength were registered to evaluate their effect on the hens' outdoor use. In Table 11 the frequency for each climate condition is shown together with the mean number of hens outdoors within the trial area.

There were small differences between the weathers sun, sun and cloud and overcast in the number of hens in the trial area and the large standard deviations show a great variation for each weather condition. Heavy rain only appeared at one observation visit at Farm 2 resulting in an average of two hens outdoors in the trial area. The r-value is low and no correlation between weather and number of hens outdoors can be stated. The r-value for wind is also low and there was little difference between the strength in wind on the number of hens outdoors in the trial area. The standard deviation for calm wind is quite low because the number of hens was over 150 hens every time the wind was calm. The number of observations during calm wind was however only three and it is therefor difficult to draw any conclusions.

Number of observations performed at mornings and in the afternoon is almost the same although with a slightly higher number of observations made in the afternoon (Table 11). There was no difference in number of hens between time of day and the standard deviation is large and shows great variation in number of hens for each day. With only two different parameters no correlation could be estimated. The result for the different temperatures is difficult to evaluate with only one observation during four, five, seven, eleven and 18 °C and none below four, above 18 or at six degrees Celsius (Table 11). Observations during twelve degrees were most common during the present trial but the variation in number of hens outdoors in the trial area was great.

	r-value		Ν	Mean	St.dev
Weather	-0.06	Sun	4	100.6	148.9
		Sun and clouds	11	170.6	140.4
		Overcast	12	199.8	107.2
		Rain	1	2.17	-
	0.00	~ .		100.0	20 6
Wind	-0.23	Calm	3	199.8	38.6
		Moderate	11	200.6	128.6
		Strong	9	134.7	129.9
		Storm	5	132.1	168.3
Time of day		Am	12	177.8	129.3
		Pm	16	159.1	132.0
Temperature	0.14	4	1	2.2	-
		5	1	214.3	-
		7	1	170.8	-
		8	2	169.8	22.5
		9	2	273.8	158.2
		10	7	144.6	156.2
		11	1	94.2	-
		12	8	164.8	146.1
		14	4	175.7	132.7
		18	1	277.5	-

Table 11. Observation of weather, wind, time of day and temperature stated once at each observation visit for all farms together and its correlation with the number of birds outside (mean \pm SD).

5 Discussion

The legislation and requirements for organic production are continually shifting and farmers need to be adaptable to maintain their organic labeling. The latest change faced by the organic egg producers in Sweden that are certified according to the rules of the Swedish organization KRAV, is a new direction in the design of the range and the obligation to ensure that the hens utilize the total given outdoor area. In this master thesis the purpose was to investigate if the placings of enrichment could have an impact on the distribution of the hens in the range. The result could not show any significant differences between the two different arrangements but there were indications that enrichment, regardless of its position does have a stronger attractiveness than areas without enrichment and that it motivates the hens to move further out in the paddock.

5.1 Distribution of hens in the outdoor run

The trial was conducted on four different farms chosen to be as similar as possible, although there were several differences between them. The number of hens outdoors could only be counted for within the trial area even though all the poultry houses had openings on both sides of the building. For all four farms the number of hens at each observation was very low and hens within the experiment area were on average less than two percent of the total population. At each visit day the observer viewed the other side of the poultry house to get an indication of if the number of hens differed greatly on the two sides of the poultry house. Without counting the hens the observer could not see any clear difference in number of hens outdoors between either sides of the poultry house. There was a tendency that birds preferred to be closer to the enrichments and in figure 5-6 it is clearly shown that there were more hens in the enriched areas compared to the control area on three of four farms. That hens prefer to stay in areas with enrichment has been confirmed in several studies (Mirabito *et al.*, 2001; Dawkins *et al.*, 2003; Hegelund *et al.*, 2005; Borland *et al.*, 2010; Dekker *et al.*, 2012; Nagle and Glatz, 2012; Rault *et al.*, 2013). The results from Farm 4 in the present study did however not confirm this, which is similar to the results by Zeltner and Hirt (2003). The number of hens outdoors on the fourth farm was on the other hand very low and it is therefore difficult to draw any strong conclusions by that result.

In the present trial the same enrichment, tin roofs and straw bales, were placed in two different ways: one as a line and the other as a zigzag formation. In this experiment the result in number of hens between the two different placements was irregular and varied between farms. On Farm 1 and 3 the hens seemed to prefer the area with the zigzag arrangement while the hens on Farm 2 were more attracted to the line formation. Over all there was no obvious difference in number of hens between the two arrangements and the difference was not statistically significant (Figure 6; Table 7). This is the first trial where two different arrangements of equal enrichments have been compared as in earlier studies the majority have compared the difference with or without enrichment (Mirabito *et al.*, 2001; Dawkins *et al.*, 2003; Borland *et al.*, 2010; Dekker *et al.*, 2012; Nagle and Glatz, 2012; Rault *et al.*, 2013; Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.*, 2014).

As a result of the new regulation by KRAV where the farmers with an organic egg production are obligated to ensure that the hens use the whole given surface in the paddock (KRAV, 2013), the main purpose of the present study was to increase the distribution of hens in the range and encourage the hens to move further out. In all four farms it was clear that the hens moved further out on the range in zones with enrichment compared to the control area. This was also seen in studies by Dawkins *et al.* (2003), Borland *et al.* (2010) and Rault *et al.* (2013). The difference in the present study was however not statistically significant (Table 8).

The distance the hens moved away from the poultry house did not differ significantly between the two arrangements (Table 8) and again the results differed between farms. The hens moved as far out as 35-50 m and only 20-35 m in the control area. It needs however to be pointed out that it was only on Farm 3 a larger group of hens was seen within the area of 35-50 m. On the latter farm the majority of the hens at that distance stayed within the area with the zigzag arrangement. On Farm 1 and 2 only a few hens ever went as far out as 35-50 m and on Farm 4 none was seen in that area.

5.2 External factors that may have affected the outcome

As previously mentioned, the hens on Farm 1 and 3 preferred the area with enrichment arranged in a zigzag formation. On both of these farms that arrangement was placed on the right side of the poultry house close to the concrete wall of the manure container. It is possible that it was not only the arrangement of the enrichment that attracted the hens but also the concrete wall giving a sense of security and thus increased the number of hens in that area. On Farm 2 the zigzag formation was placed on the side of the poultry house closest to the road where cars and machines enters the farm. This could be experienced as a more fearful area of the range and therefore contribute to the lower number of hens in that area.

On Farm 2 and 3 heavy rain fell during the period of the observations creating puddles that seemed to be attractive to the birds. On Farm 2 the puddles appeared where the enrichment

was placed in a line and on Farm 3 in the area of the zigzag formation. These areas attracted more hens and the reason for this could consequently be due to the appearance of puddles. On Farm 1, two straw bales had accidently broken down within the area of the zigzag formation creating two piles of straw. The hens seemed to be attracted to these piles and this could therefore be a reason to the higher number of hens in that area.

Poultry are prey animals with enemies in both the sky and on the ground. They are anxious animals that seek shelter as soon as there is a risk of danger. This was observed during the trial when even the smallest bird in the sky caused the hens to run inside.

5.3 Trial design and collection of data

As described earlier there have been very few studies comparing the attractiveness of the outdoor run with placing of enrichment and arrangement of the same type of artificial enrichment has never been examined before. To place enrichment in a line (Nagle and Glatz, 2012; Rault *et al.* 2013) or spread it such as in a zigzag formation (Zeltner and Hirt, 2008) has been done earlier, but never together in the same trial with the same components. The lack of previous research was the reason why that method was chosen in this master thesis but also with the belief that the placement of shelters has an importance. How arranging the enrichment could effect the distribution of the hens in the range has not been investigated earlier. Even if no difference could be found in this master thesis, the hypothesis that arrangement has an importance cannot yet be rejected after only one trial.

It is also more common to perform trials about outdoor use on artificial, scientifically adjusted ranges instead of on commercial farms. There is obviously an advantage with the first type of experiment with a reduction in different factors when the outdoor runs are the same in design, hens are the same breed, age and from the same hatchery, to name a few. On the other hand there is a great risk that the results obtained in a scientifically designed farm are not applicable to a commercial farm because the environment and conditions are too different from each other. If organic farmers are to benefit from the results from scientific experiments, the trials should be adapted to the target group. Ranges designed for scientific purposes are often smaller and in other ways different from ranges on commercial farms. Since the idea of this master thesis arose from the previously described rule change by KRAV, it was urgent to get results as soon as possible and the trial of this master thesis was therefore carried out on commercial farms.

The collection of data by counting at short intervals was inspired by earlier studies (Table 5) (Zeltner and Hirt, 2008; Rault *et al.*, 2013) but the intervals in the present study were slightly shorter. This was due to the low variation in the number of hens outside over a few hours, decreasing the necessity to observe during a longer period at each observation. Instead there was a great minute to minute variation with hens running back and forth to the poultry house due to frightening birds in the sky or similar events. To count only once an hour had probably increased the risk of counting when the hens had just moved inside giving a weak result when the hens just seconds after returned out again. In the present trial an interval of ten minutes was chosen to decrease that risk.

Both financial assets and time limited the number of days the observations were conducted. Each farm was visited seven times, which is similar to several other studies (Table 5), but it would have been of interest to continue observations at the end of the season to see if

familiarity with the enrichment could increase both the number of hens outdoors and the difference between the two arrangements of the enrichments.

The most common method to count number of hens outdoors in other studies has been direct observations (Table 5) (Bubier and Bradshaw, 1998; Mirabito *et al.*, 2001; Zeltner and Hirt, 2003; Hegelund *et al.*, 2005; Zeltner and Hirt, 2008; Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea *et al.*, 2014). Video recordings might have decreased the risk of miscounting but it was not possible to include video cameras in the trial for both financial and time restrictions. When number of hens within one zone exceeded 100 individuals the observer counted by estimating hens in groups of ten birds. The risk that the outcome would have been different or more accurate by using video recording is rather low.

5.4 Climate, season and time of day

At each observation visit the outdoor temperature was measured and weather and wind was assessed. The result is shown in Table 11 but with an unequal number of observations for each climate parameter it is difficult to make a conclusion of if weather, wind and temperature have an impact on hens' willingness to go outdoors or not. Instead, their impact on the result is to be discussed as follow. Heavy rain and strong wind effectively decreased the number of hens outdoors. This is for example seen in the present study on the third observation day on Farm 2 when there was a heavy rainfall and the average number of hens outdoors within the trial area was less than two birds. This is also confirmed by Hegelund *et al.* (2005) and Gilani *et al.* (2014).

The region where the study was conducted, Östergötlands län, is an area with large areas of open plains and is therefore often quite windy. During the observations the wind was only scored as calm on three observations. The most common score was moderate followed by strong and then very strong. Strong wind has been seen to decrease the number of hens outside in earlier studies (Hegelund *et al.*, 2005; Gilani *et al.*, 2014). Dawkins *et al.* (2003) saw that the hens preferred to be outside during warm cloudy days while bright sunlight on the other hand seemed to decrease the number of birds in the range. During the present study no clear difference in outdoor use could be seen between sunny days, overcast or light rainfall which confirms the results Zeltner and Hirt (2003) and Zeltner and Hirt (2008). They did on the other hand discover a different pattern of behaviour dependent on weather, but in the actual study different behaviours were not registered and therefore could not be analysed.

The temperature varied between four and 18°C but with few observations no correlation could be drawn between temperature and number of hens outdoors. According to Hegelund *et al.* (2005) the most favourable temperature is at 17°C and the number of hens decreases both with increasing and decreasing temperatures.

During the present trial the impact of time of day is shown in Table 11 but there was no clear difference between number of hens outdoors between morning and afternoon. Two farms were visited each observation day, one at opening time and the other in the afternoon. The purpose with the study was to evaluate the placing of enrichment and it was therefore of importance to chose the time of day when most hens were likely to be outside. The best time for observations was, after deliberation with the farmers, assumed to be at opening of the pop-holes and afternoon at 15.00-17.00 o'clock. At midday and evening the farmers experienced the lowest number of hens to be outdoors. On one occasion one observation was conducted at sunset on Farm 2 and the number of hens outside was lower than at other times. A similar pattern was

found by Hegelund *et al.* (2005) who saw a decrease in number of hens outdoors with increasing time of day. In that study the recordings did however stop after 17.00 and number of hens outside in the late afternoon and evening is therefore unknown. Though, only one observation in the evening in the present trial cannot give any accurate result and the opposite was seen by both Dawkins *et al.* (2003), Rault *et al.* (2013) and Bubier and Bradshaw (1998) who saw a higher number of hens in late afternoon and evening.

5.5 The poultry house and light intensity

During the trial the light intensity both inside the poultry house, in the winter garden and outdoors was measured on one occasion on each farm (Table 10). Farm 3 had the highest value of lux both at pop-holes and in the winter garden compared to the other farms. The farm also had the highest number of hens outdoors and one of the reasons could be the lower difference in light intensity between the indoor and outdoor environment, possibly decreasing the fearfulness of entering the range. This is in accordance with findings by both Gilani *et al.* (2014) and Dekker *et al.* (2012) that more hens went outside when the difference in light intensity was decreased between the indoor and outdoor environment. It should also be kept in mind that it is a great difference between <10 lux at the feed tray and >50 000 lux outdoors seen at all farms in the present trial and that it therefore might be one of many reasons why the percentage of hens outdoors was low on all four farms. Farm 4 showed lowest lux-levels at both pop-holes and winter garden creating the greatest difference in light intensity between indoors. That farm, also as mentioned several times, had the lowest number of hens outdoors, which confirms this further.

According to Bubier and Bradshaw (1998) the number of hens outdoors increases when feeding them *ad libitum* with roof suspended feeders instead of fixed feeding times with feeder belts. In the present trial all four farms used feeder belts that were switched on five to six times a day. Since all four farms had the same feeding system its impact is not possible to analyse. However, it is of relevance to consider that changing feeding routine could improve the movement of hens outdoors. Bubier and Bradshaw (1998) concluded that hens kept close to the poultry house in conjunction with each feeding time increased their movement from the range back into the poultry house.

5.6 Impact of plumage condition, hybrid and age

Bestman & Wagenaar (2003) and Shimmura *et al.* (2008) stated that if hens have access to an outdoor run the behaviour of feather pecking will decrease. This is also confirmed by Pötzsch *et al.* (2001), Nicol *et al.* (2003) and Mahboub *et al.* (2004) but even if the hens have access to an outdoor area the level of feather pecking could still be high if the ranging is low. It is difficult to evaluate if the hens are unwilling to range when the feathering is poor due to an increased stress level and lower protection against wind and low temperature. An alternative is if the poor plumage condition, on the other hand, is an effect of hens staying inside and thereby increasing the density level of the indoor area, as discussed by Bestman & Wagenaar (2003). This conclusion is though misaligned with the higher prevalence of feather pecking in organic production systems compared to conventional systems where the density is higher.

The plumage condition on each farm was determined through a randomly picked sample of 100 individuals on each farm. On three of four farms all hens were well feathered but on Farm 4 the plumage condition was poor and almost 80 % of the hens had naked spots and 50 % had naked areas larger than 5 cm (Table 9). The feather pecking on the fourth farm had, according

to the farmer, begun soon after the arrival to the farm and the plumage condition was therefore already poor at first access to the outdoor run. The reason for the higher occurrence of feather pecking behaviour on this farm compared to the other three is difficult to say, but due to its early development it is probably a result of poor rearing at the breeding farm. Many farmers lower the light intensity to decrease the level of feather pecking and even if it is not confirmed it is possible that the producer on Farm 4 kept the light intensity on a low level for this reason. A combination of poor plumage condition and the great difference in light intensity between indoors and outdoors is possibly one reason why ranging was lowest on Farm 4.

There were two different breeds taking part in this master thesis. Farm 1 and 4 kept hens of the hybrid Bovans and Farm 2 and 3 had LSL (Table 6). All hens on all farms were white except a small number of brown layers (less than 100 individuals) on Farm 1. No study comparing the outdoor use between the white hybrids Bovans and LSL has been performed and no difference could be seen in the present trial. Farm 1 and 4 with the Bovans hybrid had the second largest and the lowest percentage of hens outdoors respectively while Farm 2 and 3 with the LSL hybrid had the second lowest and the largest percentage of hens in the range respectively.

In Sweden the use of white hybrids is dominating (SLU, 2010) and the use of beak trimming or other mutilations are prohibited (Svenska Ägg, 2014). Some people claim that the utilization of the outdoor run decreases with white hybrids compared to brown (Mahboub *et al.*, 2004; Gebhardt-Henrich *et al.*, 2014). If the low use of the range in the present experiment depends on the use of white hybrids is difficult to analyse due to lack of brown hybrids in the trial. The prohibition of beak trimming increases the risk of feather pecking and according to Tauson *et al.* (1999) this risk is enhanced among brown hybrids kept in loose housing systems such as the organic production. To use brown hybrids in Swedish organic egg production with the purpose to increase the range use might simultaneously decrease the animal welfare.

The hens on Farm 4 in the present study were older, 47 weeks, compared to 25-30 weeks in the other farms (Table 6), and they had both been inside for a longer period and were older at first access to the outdoor run. Both Hegelund *et al.* (2005) and Gilani *et al.* (2014) saw a lower use of the range with increasing of age. A reason for this could be an increase in fear level in older hens (Hocking *et al.*, 2001; Hegelund *et al.* 2005). Zeltner and Hirt (2003) did on the other hand see a increased use of the range when the hens were older, but the number of hens outdoors were however low for all ages. Both Grigor *et al.* (1995) and Gilani *et al.* (2014) saw a correlation between percentage of hens in the outdoor run and lower age at first access.

6 Conclusion

In this master thesis it could be stated that enrichment in the outdoor run tended to be attractive to hens and encourage them to move further out in the paddock compared to areas without enrichment. If placing the enrichment in a straight line or in a zigzag formation has any impact on the distribution of the hens could not be clarified since the hens seemed to prefer both likewise. The present study was on the other hand limited in both time and expenses with a small number of farms. Due to these limitations this study cannot conclude that placing of enrichment is of no importance.

7 Future perspectives

The distribution of the hens in the range needs to be improved both to increase animal welfare and to lower the overfertilization in the range close to the pop-holes. To increase the distribution of the hens the range needs to be designed with protective enrichment to encourage the hens to go outside and it has been proven in several cases that the presence of enrichment increases the number of hens outdoors compared to ranges without. It is therefore more interesting to compare different enrichments with each other as well as the placing. Shelters placed as clusters should be compared with shelterbelts as well as artificial enrichment should be compared with vegetation. More trials ought to be executed on commercial farms since it is where the results will be implemented in the end.

8 Acknowledgments

My acknowledgments are addressed to the four egg producers who participated in my study by designing their pasture after my directions and allowed me to perform my observations on their farms. Without their contribution the trial would never have been implemented. I would like to extend a warm thanks to my supervisor Anette Wichman and her useful feedback on the experimental design, written report and statistical analysis. I will also show my appreciation to my assistant supervisor Malin Lovang at Lovang Lantbrukskonsult AB who was the driving force throughout the project, the contact person to the farmers and an invaluable advisor. Additionally I would like to thank my examiner Linda Keeling.

Finally I would like to thank the foundation Bertebos stiftelse who through a scholarship supported the trial financially and made it possible for me to perform my observations in Östergötlands län.

9 References

- Bestman, M., Koene, P. and Wagenaar, J.P. 2009. Influence of farm factors on the occurrence of feather pecking in organic reared hens and their predictability for feather pecking in the laying period. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 121, 120-125.
- Bestman, M.W.P. and Wagenaar, J.P. 2003. Farm level factors associated with feather pecking in organic laying hens. Livestock Production Science 80, 133-140.
- Bestman, M. and Wagenaar, J.P. 2006. Feather pecking in organic rearing hens. Joint Organic Congress. Odense, Denmark. 30-31 May 2006.
- von Borell, E. and Sørensen, J.T. Organic livestock production in Europe: aims, rules and trends with special emphasis on animal health and welfare. Livestock Production Science 90, 3-9.
- Borland, E.A., Hazel, S., Glatz, P.C., Rodda, B.K., Rimmington, H., Wyatt, S.C. and Miao, Z.H. 2010. 21st Annual Australian Poultry Science Symposium, 134.
- Breitsameter, L., Gauly, M. and Isselstein, J. 2014. Sward botanical composition and sward quality affect the foraging behaviour of free-range laying hens. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 150, 27-36.
- Bright, A., Brass, D., Clachan, J., Drake, K.A. and Joret, A.D. 2011. Canopy cover is correlated with reduced injurious feather pecking in commercial flocks of free-range laying hens. Animal Welfare 20, 329-338.
- Bubier, N.E. and Bradshaw, R.H. 1998. Movement of flocks of laying hens in and out of the hen house in four free range systems. British Poultry Science 39, 5-6.
- Collias, N.E. and Collias, E.C. 1967. A field study of the red jungle fowl in North-Central India. The Condor 69, 360-386.
- Cooper, J., Niggli, U. and Leifert, C. 2007. Handbook of organic food safety and quality. England: Woodhead Publishing Limited; USA: CRC Press.
 - https://books.google.se/books?id=peiAgAAQBAJ&pg=PA130&lpg=PA130&dq=winter+garden+veranda+ organic+poul try&source=bl&ots=LS5GoRaNMk&sig=gxGhoOaoq0X5BsaljmTikd7hzqU&hl=sv &sa=X&ei=l9ACVZSEPaq9ygPxp4GACw&ved=0CCAQ6AEwAA#v=onepage&q=wi nter%20garden%20veranda%20organic%20poultry&f=false
- Cornetto, T. and Estevez, I. 2001. Behaviour of the Domestic Fowl in the Presence of Vertical Panels. Poultry Science 80, 1455-1462.
- Dal Bosco, A., Mugnai, C., Sirri, E., Zamparini, C. and Castellini, C. 2010. Assessment of a global positioning system to evaluate activities of organic chickens at pasture. Journal of Applied Poultry Research 19:3, 213-218.
- Dawkins, M.S., Cook, P.A., Whittingham, M.J., Mansell, K.A. and Harper, A.E. 2003. What makes free-range broiler chickens range? In situ measurement of habitat preference. Animal Behaviour 66, 151-160.
- Dekker, S.E.M., Aarnink, A.J.A., de Boer, I.J.M. and Groot Koerkamp, P.W.G. 2012. Total loss and distribution of nitrogen and phosphorus in the outdoor run of organic laying hens. British Poultry Science 53:6, 731-740.
- Donaldson, C.J. and O'Conell, N.E. 2012. The influence of access to aerial perches on fearfulness, social behaviour and production parameters in free-range laying hens. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 142, 51-60.
- Elwinger, K. and Tauson, R. 1999. Välj rätt hönor vid golvinhysning vita hönor bäst i försök. Fakta Jordbruk, nr.11. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. http://www.slu.se/Documents/externwebben/overgripande-slu-dokument/popvet-dok/faktajordbruk/pdf99/Jo99-01.pdf [2015-02-17]
- Elwinger, K., Tufvesson, M., Lagerkvist, G. and Tauson, R. 2008. Feeding layers of different genotypes in organic feed environments. British Poultry Science 49:6, 654-665.
- European Union. 1999. Council Directive 1999/74/EC. Laying down minimum standards for the protection of laying hens.

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:1999:203:0053:0057:EN:PDF [2015-02-24]

- European Union. 2007. Livestock production rules 1.b.viii. Council Regulation (EC) No 834/2007 of 28 June 2007 on organic production and labelling of organic products and repealing Regulation (EEC) No 2092/91
- http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2007:189:0001:0023:EN:PDF [2015-02-10] Europeiska unionen. 2014. Länder EU:s medlemsländer. http://europa.eu/about-eu/countries/index_sv.htm
- [2015-01-27] Fossum, O., Jansson, D.S., Engelsen Etterlin, P. and Vågsholm, I. 2009. Causes of mortality in laying hens in
- different housing systems in 2001 to 2004. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 51:3.
- Gebhardt-Henrich, S.G., Toscano, M.J. and Fröhlich, E.K.F. 2014. Use of outdoor ranges by laying hens in different sized flocks. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 155, 74-81.

Gilani, A.-M., Knowles, T.G. and Nicol, C.J. 2014. Factors affecting ranging behaviour in young and adult laying hens. British Poultry Science 55:2, 127-135.

Grigor, P.N., Hughes, B.O. and Appleby, M.C. 1995. Effects of regular handling and exposure to an outside area on subsequent fearfulness and dispersal in domestic hens. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 44, 47-55.

GPO. 2015. §205.238 Livestock health care practice standard a.5. U.S. Government publishing office. http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-

idx?SID=cb3239debbcaca7fl22e55cfa4a79545&node=se7.3.205_1238&rgn=div8 [2015-02-10]

- Harlander-Matauschek, A., Felsenstein, K., Niebuhr, K. and Troxler, J. 2006. Influence of pop hole dimension on the number of laying hens outside on the range. British Poultry Science 47:2, 131-134.
- Hegelund, L., Sørensen, J.T., Kjaer, J.B. and Kristensen, I.S. 2005. Use of range area in organic egg production systems: effect of climatic factors, flock size, age and artificial cove. British Poultry Science 46:1, 1-8.
- Hirt, H., Hördegen, P. and Zeltner, E. 2000. Laying hen husbandry: group size and use of hen-runs. Proceedings 13th Inernational IFOAM Scientific Conference, pp. 363, by Alföldi T. Lockeretz, W. & Niggli, U.
- Hocking, P.M., Channing, C.E., Waddington, D. and Jones, R.B. 2001. Age-related changes in fear, sociality and pecking behaviours in two strains of laying hen. British Poultry Science 42, 414-423.
- Icken, W., Cavero, D., Schmutz, M., Thurner, S., Wendl, G. and Preisinger, R. 2008. Analysis of the free range behaviour of laying hens and the genetic and phenotypic relationships with laying performance. British Poultry Science 49:5, 533-541.
- Jordbruksverket. 2013a. 4a. Antal och andel omställda ekologiska höns och slaktkycklingar i juni 2013. Ekologisk djurhållning 2013. Statistiska meddelanden JO 20 SM 1402. http://www.jordbruksverket.se/webdav/files/SJV/Amnesomraden/Statistik%2C%20fakta/Husdjur/JO20/JO 20SM1402/JO20SM1402 tabeller9.htm [2015-01-26]
- Jordbruksverket 2013b. Marknadsöversikt 2013 Ägg. Rapport 2013:34. http://www2.jordbruksverket.se/webdav/files/SJV/trycksaker/Pdf rapporter/ra13 34v2.pdf [2015-01-26]
- Jordbruksverket. 2014a. Husdjur i juni 2014. Statistiska meddelanden, JO 20 SM 1403.
- http://www.jordbruksverket.se/webdav/files/SJV/Amnesomraden/Statistik,%20fakta/Husdjur/JO20/JO20S M1403/JO20SM1403.pdf [2015-01-27]
- Jordbruksverket. 2014b. CAP Den gemensamma jordbrukspolitiken. http://www.jordbruksverket.se/amnesomraden/handel/allmantomhandelsochjordbrukspolitik/capdengemens ammajordbrukspolitiken.4.6beab0f111fb74e78a78000936.html [2015-01-27]
- Jordbruksverket. 2014c. Ekologiska fjäderfän.
 - http://www.jordbruksverket.se/amnesomraden/djur/olikaslagsdjur/fjaderfan/ekologiskproduktion.106.67e8 43d911ff9f551db80002507.html [2014-01-27]
- Kjaer, J.B. and Sørensen, P. 1997. Feather pecking behaviour in White Leghorns, a genetic study. British Poultry Science 38, 333-341.
- Kjaer, J.B. and Sørensen, P. 2002. Feather pecking and cannibalism in free-range laying hens as affected by genotype, dietary level of methionine + cystine, light intensity during rearing and age at first access to the range. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 76, 21-39.
- KRAV. 2013. Regeln om rastgård för värphöns ändras omgående. http://www.krav.se/sites/www.krav.se/files/regelandring rastgardar.pdf [2015-01-27]
- KRAV. 2014a. Så blir hönan KRAV-godkänd. http://www.krav.se/sa-blir-honan-krav-godkand [2015-01-27] KRAV. 2014b. 5.4.12 Utevistelse och bete för fjäderfä.
- http://www.krav.se/node/75422 [2015-02-03]
- KRAV. 2014c. 5.6.16. Byggnader till fjäderfä
 - http://www.krav.se/node/75458 [2015-02-24]
- LaBrash, L.F. and Scheideler, S.E. 2005. Feather Condition Score Survey of Commercial Laying Hens. Applied Poultry Research 14, 740-744.
- Lubac, S. and Mirabito, L. 2001. Relationship between the activities of "Red Label" type chickens in an outdoor run and external factors. British Poultry Science 42, S14-S15.
- Mahboub, H.D.H., Müller, J. and von Borell, E. 2004. Outdoor use, tonic immobility, heterophil/lymphocyte ration and feather condition in free-range laying hens of different genotype. British Poultry Science 45:6, 738-744.
- Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. 2000. A study tour of organic poultry production in France examining the current and future implementation of standards and EU egislation. https://www.google.se/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=15&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CEAQF jAEOApqFQoTCNW276e4l8gCFaaYcgode6QAbw&url=http%3A%2F%2Frandd.defra.gov.uk%2FDocu ment.aspx%3FDocument%3DOF0303_2551_FRP.DOC&usg=AFQjCNFs07coz_UIMFqAYSQ2lrjVylWk hA&sig2=Tw4dyDLtD2k6Ww4GmsmqxQ&bvm=bv.103388427,d.bGQ [2015-09-27]

- Mirabito, L. and Lubac, S. 2001. Descriptive study of outdoor run occupation by "Red Label" type chickens. British Poultry Science 42, S16-S17.
- Mirabito, L., Joly, T. and Lubac, S. 2001. Impact of the presence of peach tree orchards in the outdoor hen runs on the occupation of the space by Red Label' type chickens. British Poultry Science 42, S18-S19.
- Nagle, T.A.D. and Glatz, P.C. 2012. Free Range Hens Use the Range More When the Outdoor Environment Is Enriched. Asian-Australian Animal Science 25:4, 584-591.
- Nicol, C.J., Pötzsch, C., Lewis, K. and Green, L.E. 2003. Matched concurrent case-control study of risk factors for feather pecking in hens on free-range commercial farms in UK. British Poultry Science 44:4, 515-523.
- Odelros, Å. 2011. Omläggning till ekologisk äggproduktion Skövde 2011-01-27. Jordbruksverket. http://www.jordbruksverket.se/download/18.4bdd0ace12e454f491d8000640/1370040773367/%C3%85sa+ Odelros+eko+%C3%A4gproduktion+jan+2011.pdf [2015-03-17]
- Odelros, Å. and Gustafson, G. 2007. Rastgårdar för ekologiska värphöns. Jordbruksinformation nr.3, 2007. Jordbruksverket. http://www2.jordbruksverket.se/webdav/files/SJV/trycksaker/Pdf_jo/jo07_3.pdf [2015-03-17]
- PWGSC. 2011. Livestock Health Care 6.7.2.a. General Principles and Management Standards CAN/CGSB-32.310-2006. Public Works and Government Services Canada. http://www.tpsgc-pwgsc.gc.ca/ongccgsb/programme-program/normes-standards/internet/bio-org/principes-principles-eng.html#a077 [2015-02-10]
- Pötzsch, C.J., Lewis, K., Nicol, C.J. and Green, L.E. 2001. A cross-sectional study of the prevalence of vent pecking in laying hens in alternative systems and its associations with feather pecking, management and disease. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 74, 259-272.
- Rault, J-L., van de Woum, A. and Hemsworth, P. 2013. Fly the coop! Vertical structures influence the distribution and behaviour of laying hens in an outdoor range. The Journal of the Australian Veterinary Association 91:10, 423-426.
- Rodriguez-Aurrekoetxea, a., leone, E.H. and Estevez, I. 2014. Environmental complexity and use of space in slow growing free range chickens. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 161, 86-94.
- Schütz, K.E., Forkman, B. and Jensen, P. 2001. Domestication effects on foraging strategy, social behaviour and different fear responses: a comparison between the red junglefowl (*Gallus gallus*) and a modern layer strain. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 74, 1-14.
- Shimmura, t., Suzuki, T., Hirahara, S., Eguchi, Y., Uetake, K. and Tanaka, T. 2008. Pecking behaviour of laying hens in single-tiered aviaries with and without outdoor area. British Poultry Science 49:4, 396-401.
- SLU. 2010. Vita eller bruna höns? Institutionen för husdjurens utfodring och vård. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. http://www.slu.se/sv/institutioner/husdjurens-utfodring-vard/om-institutionen/avdelningen-for-fagel/lasvartom-fjaderfa/vita-eller-bruna-hons/ [2015-02-09]
- Svenska Ägg. 2014. Svensk djurskyddslagstiftning och EU-direktivet. http://www.svenskaagg.se/?p=19899 [2015-02-10]
- Sørensen, P. 2001. Breeding strategies in poultry for genetic adaptation to the organic environment. Breeding and feeding for animal health and welfare in organic livestock systems, Proceedings of the Fourth NAHWOA Workshop. 2001. p. 51-62.
- Tauson, R., Wahlström, A. and Abrahamsson, P. 1999. Effect of two floor housing systems and cages on health, production, and fear responses in layers. Applied Poultry Science 8, 152-159.
- Zeltner, E. and Hirt, H. 2003. Effect of artificial structuring on the use of laying hen runs in a free-range system. British Poultry Science 44:4, 533-537.
- Zeltner, E. and Hirt, H. 2008. Factors involved in the improvement of the use of hen runs. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 114, 395-408.

10 Appendix

10.1 Appendix 1

Calculations made on figures found in Rault et al. (2013):

Number of hens near the shelterbelt:	Average percentage of hens near the shelterbelt:				
Zone 1: 86.2 ± 6.2	<u>86.2 22.3 8.23</u>				
Zone 2: 22.3 ± 6.2	<u> </u>				
Zone 3: 8.23 ± 6.2					
Number of hens within the control area:	Average percentage of hens within the control area:				

Zone 1: 14.9 ± 6.2	<u>14.9 2.8 2.6</u> 3		
Zone 2: 2.8 ± 6.2	17000	0.0004	0.04 '%
Zone 3: 2.6 ± 6.3			

10.2 Appendix 2

Calculations made on figures found in Table 1 in Mirabito et al. (2001):

Percentage of hens with access to a range enriched with peach tree orchards:

 $\frac{54.0 + 50.9 + 55.7 + 77.2 + 65.7}{5} = 60.7 \%$

Percentage of hens with access to a range with no enrichment:

 $\frac{6.2 \pm 12.8 \pm 11.4 \pm 16.9 \pm 19.8}{5} = 13.4~\%$

Vid **Institutionen för husdjurens miljö och hälsa** finns tre publikationsserier:

- * Avhandlingar: Här publiceras masters- och licentiatavhandlingar
- * **Rapporter:** Här publiceras olika typer av vetenskapliga rapporter från institutionen.
- * Studentarbeten: Här publiceras olika typer av studentarbeten, bl.a. examensarbeten, vanligtvis omfattande 7,5-30 hp. Studentarbeten ingår som en obligatorisk del i olika program och syftar till att under handledning ge den studerande träning i att självständigt och på ett vetenskapligt sätt lösa en uppgift. Arbetenas innehåll, resultat och slutsatser bör således bedömas mot denna bakgrund.

Vill du veta mer om institutionens publikationer kan du hitta det här: www.slu.se/husdjurmiljohalsa

DISTRIBUTION:

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Fakulteten för veterinärmedicin och husdjursvetenskap Institutionen för husdjurens miljö och hälsa Box 234 532 23 Skara Tel 0511–67000 **E-post: hmh@slu.se** www.slu.se/husdjurmiljohalsa Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Animal Environment and Health P.O.B. 234 SE-532 23 Skara, Sweden Phone: +46 (0)511 67000 **E-mail: hmh@slu.se** www.slu.se/animalenvironmenthealth